


CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE 
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk 

may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware 

of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and 

careful consideration.

The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional 

and other sophisticated investors. Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that 

securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main 

Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded 

on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this 

report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever 

for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of KSL Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and 

individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing 

of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with 

regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their 

knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects 

and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement 

herein or this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of KSL Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), I would like to present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 

July 2016 to you.

In the 2015/16 financial year, the Group recorded a decrease in turnover of approximately HK$29.7 million or 19.2% 

to approximately HK$124.8 million compared with the 2014/15 financial year. Such decrease was mainly due to a 

tougher competitive condition in the contracting business faced by the Group in Hong Kong during the year. In line 

with such decrease in turnover, the profit for the 2015/16 financial year was decreased by approximately HK$15.3 

million or 51.0% to HK$14.7 million compared with the 2014/15 financial year.

Looking ahead, the Group expects the competition of the market will be continuously intense. In developing 

the Group’s contracting business, the Directors will continue to carefully evaluate the potential costs and the 

geotechnical engineering circumstances pertaining to different potential projects with a view to controlling the 

Group’s overall costs to an acceptable and satisfactory level. From time to time, the Group will actively seek for 

suitable investment opportunities for business diversification to increase shareholders’ return.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers, subcontractors 

and business partners for their continuous support, and to our management and staff members for their diligence, 

dedication and contribution to the growth of the Group.

Dr. Li Kai Shun

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 October 2016
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During the year ended 31 July 2016, the competition for private sector projects of the construction industry in Hong 

Kong became more intense primarily due to the less optimistic outlook of the general economic condition of Hong 

Kong as well as the slow approval progress of infrastructure projects by the Legislative Council of Hong Kong and 

the Finance Committee of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

We are principally engaged in the provision of engineering consulting, contracting and project management 

services in Hong Kong with a focus on geotechnical engineering works. Geotechnical engineering is a branch of 

civil engineering concerned with the study and modification of soil and rocks. The geotechnical engineering works 

in which we participated as a consultant, contractor and/or project manager included foundation design and 

construction works for building construction projects, excavations and structural designs for the construction of 

underground facilities, site formation works and landslip preventive works.

The Group experienced a decrease in revenue and net profit for the year ended 31 July 2016 compared to the same 

period last year. The Directors consider that the decrease was mainly due to a decrease in gross profit margin for 

the Group’s contracting business as a result of an increase in the overall construction costs in Hong Kong, coupled 

with a decrease in revenue derived from undertaking geotechnical works as contractor as a result of competition 

faced by the Group in obtaining new businesses.

The Directors are also cautiously monitoring the overall construction costs with respect to the works undertaken by 

the Group as contractor which are affected by factors including, but not limited to different geotechnical engineering 

circumstances pertaining to the different projects undertaken by the Group as well as the overall market conditions 

and costs in the construction industry as well as overall economy in Hong Kong. Going forward, in developing 

the Group’s contracting business, the Directors will continue to carefully evaluate the potential costs and the 

geotechnical engineering circumstances pertaining to different potential projects with a view to controlling the 

Group’s overall costs to an acceptable and satisfactory level. Due to the intense competition for the construction 

industry in Hong Kong, in order to diversify the business risk and explore more business opportunities, the Group 

has entered into the interior design and decoration industry during the year ended 31 July 2016. From time to time, 

the Group will consider different business opportunities to increase shareholders’ return.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our revenue decreased from approximately HK$154.5 million for the year ended 31 July 2015 to approximately 

HK$124.8 million for the year ended 31 July 2016, representing a decrease of approximately 19.2%. Such 

decrease was mainly due to the decrease in the Group’s revenue derived from undertaking foundation and related 

geotechnical works as contractor, as a result of the intense competition faced by the Group which resulted in less 

business opportunities in such areas being available in the market.
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Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales decreased from approximately HK$100.9 million for the year ended 31 July 2015 to approximately 

HK$92.4 million for the year ended 31 July 2016, representing a decrease of approximately 8.4%. Such decrease 

was mainly attributable to the decrease in subcontracting charges, costs of construction materials and supplies, 

staff costs and other expenses due to an increase in the overall construction costs with respect to the works 

undertaken as contractor in Hong Kong market during the year ended 31 July 2016 as compared to the year ended 

31 July 2015, the Group recorded a lower percentage decrease in its cost of sales than the percentage decrease 

in its revenue during year ended 31 July 2016, which led to a decrease in the Group’s gross profit margin from 

approximately 34.7% for the year ended 31 July 2015 to approximately 25.9% for the year ended 31 July 2016.

Gross Profit

Our gross profit amounted to approximately HK$53.6 million and HK$32.4 million for the years ended 31 July 

2015 and 2016 respectively, representing a decrease of approximately 39.6%, as a result of (i) the decrease in our 

revenue as discussed above; and (ii) the tougher competitive condition faced by our Group resulting in the decrease 

in our gross profit margin.

Other Income

Our other income amounted to approximately HK$1.8 million and HK$3.7 million for the years ended 31 July 2015 

and 2016 respectively, representing an increase of approximately 111.8%, which was mainly due to the increase 

in rental income from approximately HK$555,000 for the year ended 31 July 2015 to approximately HK$951,000 

for the year ended 31 July 2016, which was earned from the rental of the investment properties to an independent 

third party starting from January 2015, and the gain on disposal of the aforementioned properties of approximately 

HK$2.4 million.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Our administrative and other operating expenses amounted to approximately HK$18.4 million and HK$18.2 

million for the years ended 31 July 2015 and 2016 respectively, representing a decrease of approximately 0.9%. 

Such decrease was primarily due to the decrease in listing expenses of approximately HK$2.3 million due to the 

completion of listing of the Company during the year ended 31 July 2015 and depreciation of owned assets of 

approximately HK$0.2 million, which was partially offset by the increase in staff costs from approximately HK$1.5 

million, legal and professional fees of approximately HK$0.4 million and rental expenses of office premises of 

approximately HK$0.4 million during the year ended 31 July 2016.

Finance Costs

For the years ended 31 July 2015 and 2016, our finance costs amounted to approximately HK$53,000 and 

HK$3,000 respectively, representing a decrease of approximately 94.3%. Such decrease was mainly due to the 

combined effect of (i) the reduction in our interest expense on bank borrowing from approximately HK$40,000 

for the year ended 31 July 2015 to nil for the year ended 31 July 2016 as a result of the full repayment of bank 

borrowing during the year ended 31 July 2015; and (ii) the decrease in interest on finance lease from HK$13,000 for 

the year ended 31 July 2015 to approximately HK$3,000 for the year ended 31 July 2016 mainly because of the full 

repayment of finance lease liabilities in December 2015.
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Income Tax Expense

For the years ended 31 July 2015 and 2016, our income tax expense amounted to approximately HK$6.9 million 

and HK$3.2 million respectively, representing a decrease of approximately 54.0%. Such decrease was primarily 

due to the decrease in profit during the year as a result of the decrease in our revenue and gross profit.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the aforesaid and in particular the decrease in our revenue and decrease in our gross profit as 

discussed above, our profit and total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of our Company 

decrease from approximately HK$29.9 million for the year ended 31 July 2015 to approximately HK$14.7 million for 

the year ended 31 July 2016, representing a decrease of approximately 51.0%.

Final Dividend

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 July 2016 (2015: Nil).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group maintained a healthy financial position during the year ended 31 July 2016. As at 31 July 2016, the 

Group had a cash and bank balance of approximately HK$103.2 million (31 July 2015: approximately HK$70.8 

million). The total interest-bearing loans of the Group as at 31 July 2016 was nil (31 July 2015: approximately 

HK$0.2 million), and current ratio as at 31 July 2016 was approximately 8.8 (31 July 2015: approximately 4.1).

The Group’s borrowings and bank balances are denominated in Hong Kong Dollar and there was no significant 

exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations during the year.

For further details regarding to the borrowings, please refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 July 2016 was nil (31 July 2015: approximately 0.002), the decrease was 

because of the full repayment of finance lease liabilities and the Group was not in need of any material debt 

financing during the year.

The gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided by total equity as at the respective periods.

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards its treasury policies and thus 

maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout the year. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by 

performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity 

risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s 

assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 July 2015 and 2016, the Group did not have any charges on its assets as the Group had fully repaid the 
relevant bank borrowing during the year.
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Foreign Exchange Exposure

All of the revenue-generating operations and borrowings of the Group were transacted in Hong Kong Dollars which 
is the presentation currency of the Group. For the year ended 31 July 2016, there was no significant exposure 
to foreign exchange rate fluctuations and the Group had not maintained any hedging policy against the foreign 
currency risk. The management will consider hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise.

Capital Structure

As at 31 July 2016, the share capital and equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to approximately 
HK$4.1 million and HK$107.2 million respectively (31 July 2015: approximately HK$4.1 million and HK$92.5 million 
respectively).

Capital Commitments

As at 31 July 2015 and 2016, the Group did not have any capital commitments.

Human Resources Management

As at 31 July 2016, the Group had 44 (31 July 2015: 37) employees, including the Directors. Total staff costs 
(including Directors’ emoluments) were approximately HK$20.3 million for the year ended 31 July 2016 as 
compared to approximately HK$19.3 million for the year ended 31 July 2015. The Group promotes individuals 
based on their performance and development potential in the positions held. In order to attract and retain high 
quality staff, competitive remuneration package is offered to employees (with reference to market norms and 
individual employees’ performance, qualification and experience). On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be 
paid with reference to the Group’s performance as well as individual’s performance. Other staff benefits include 
provision of retirement benefits, medical benefits and sponsorship of training courses.

The emoluments of the Directors were reviewed by the remuneration committee of the Company, having regard to 
the Company’s operating results, market competitiveness, individual performance, and approved by the Board.

Significant Investments Held

Except for investment in its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 July 2016, the Group did not hold any significant 
investment in equity interest in any other company.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and Affliated Companies

For the year ended 31 July 2016, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries 
and affiliated companies.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 July 2016, the Group did not have any material contingent liability.
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Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets

Save as disclosed in the Company’s prospectus dated 28 November 2014 (the “Prospectus”), the Group did not 
have other plans for material investments and capital assets.

Comparison of Business Objectives with Actual Business Progress

Business objectives
up to 31 July 2016 as stated 
in the Prospectus

Actual business progress up to 
31 July 2016

Further developing our 
contracting business

Under take  more  geotechn ica l 
e n g i n e e r i n g  p r o j e c t s  f o r  o u r 
contracting business should we 
able to identify and secure suitable 
business opportunities, with HK$15.0 
mill ion earmarked for satisfying 
potential customers’ requirements 
for surety bonds

T h e  G r o u p  i s  i n  t h e  p r o g r e s s 
of  ident i fy ing sui table business 
opportunities with potential customers 
and the Group has also committed to 
undertake a new construction project 
in late July 2015 for which a deposit 
of approximately HK$7.4 million is 
required

Further strengthening our 
in-house team of engineering 
staff

Recruit two additional middle to 
senior level engineering staff to cope 
with our business development 
and our plan to further develop our 
contracting business

The Group has recruited engineering 
staff during the year ended 31 July 
2016 and regularly reviewed the need 
for further recruitments to suit the 
volume of contracting and consulting 
business

Continue to sponsor our engineering 
staff to attend technical seminars 
and occupational health and safety 
courses organized by third parties

The Group sponsored our engineering 
staff to attend technical seminars 
and occupational health and safety 
courses organized by third parties

Developing more efficient 
in-house computer programs

Upgrade our engineering computer 
p rog rams  by  pu rchas ing  new 
software from third-party providers

The Group purchased computer 
software from third-party providers 
a n d  h a d  a l s o  d e v e l o p e d  i n -
house programs for enhancing the 
productivity of consultancy services of 
the Group

Recruit one information technology 
o f f i c e r  t o  d e v e l o p  i n - h o u s e 
engineering computer programs and 
to continuously maintain and refine 
such computer programs

The Group has recruited a software 
e n g i n e e r  t o  d e v e l o p  i n - h o u s e 
engineer ing computer programs 
and has also appointed an external 
consultant to maintain an efficient 
computer systems for the Group
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Use of Proceeds

During the year ended 31 July 2016, the net proceeds from placing were applied as follows:

Planned use 

of proceeds as 

stated in the 

Prospectus up to

31 July 2016

Actual use 

of proceeds up to 

31 July 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Further developing our contracting business 15,000 7,400

Further strengthening our in-house team of engineering staff 3,200 906

Developing more efficient in-house computer programs 1,400 589
  

The business objectives, future plans and planned use of proceeds as stated in the Prospectus were based on 

the best estimation and assumption of future market conditions made by the Group at the time of preparing the 

Prospectus while the proceeds were applied based on the actual development of the Group’s business and the 

industry.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LI Kai Shun (李啟信 ), aged 55, is the founder of our Group. He is the chairman of the Board, an executive Director 

and our compliance officer and is responsible for the overall business development and financial and strategic 

planning of our Group. Dr. Li was appointed as an executive Director on 17 July 2014. He is also a director of 

certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Dr. Li graduated from The University of Hong Kong in November 1983 with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering. 

He obtained a degree of Doctor of Philosophy in civil engineering from The University of New South Wales in 

December 1988. He also obtained a graduate diploma in technology management from The University of New 

South Wales in December 1992.

Dr. Li has been a fellow of the Institution of Engineers in Australia since March 1997, a fellow of the Institution of 

Civil Engineers in the United Kingdom since October 1998, and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers 

since June 1999. Dr. Li has also been a Registered Professional Engineer in the civil and geotechnical discipline 

since October 1994, an Authorized Person since November 1998, a Registered Structural Engineer since June 

1998, and a Registered Geotechnical Engineer since May 2005.

Prior to founding our Group, Dr. Li had been employed, among others, by Binnie Hong Kong Limited (formerly 

known as Binnie & Partners International) as an engineer and Mitchell and MarFarlane, Brentnall & Partners 

International Limited as a senior geotechnical engineer.

Dr. Li was a director of Landtech Engineering Company Limited (嶺達工程有限公司 ) (formerly known as Top Honour 

Enterprise Limited (卓榮企業有限公司 )) (“Landtech Engineering”), which was incorporated on 13 August 1992 in Hong 

Kong, prior to its dissolution. Due to cessation of business, Landtech Engineering was struck off and dissolved 

pursuant to section 291 of the Predecessor Companies Ordinance on 18 January 2002 following a notice of striking 

off dated 31 August 2001.

Dr. Li also has extensive teaching experience including teaching at The University of Hong Kong and the University 

of New South Wales. He is currently an adjunct professor in the Department of Civil Engineering of The University of 

Hong Kong.

Dr. Li has also published over 200 technical papers, research reports, discussions, books and book chapters 

on various aspects of civil engineering, including reinforced concrete design, foundation design, surveying, 

geotechnical reliability, slope stability analysis and deep excavations.
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Ms. TONG Jiangxia (童 江 霞 ), aged 41, was appointed as an executive Director on 15 December 2015, and was 

promoted as the Vice-chairperson on 1 June 2016. She obtained an accounting profession* (會計學專科 ) from 

China Geology University* (中 國 地 質 大 學 ). Ms. Tong held various posts in Jiangxi Nan Chang Fu Shi Shan 

Decoration Company Limited* (江西南昌富士山裝飾有限公司 ) during the period from March 1995 to August 2001, 

including an accountant assistant* (會計助理 ) from March 1995 to August 1997, a vice general manager* (副總經理 ) 

from August 1997 to October 1999 and a marketing controller* (市場總監 ) from October 1999 to August 2001. From 

August 2001 to June 2008, she had been an executive vice president* (常務副總裁 ) of Nan Chang Xin Tian Property 

Development Company Limited* (南昌新田置業發展有限公司 ). From August 2008 till present, Ms. Tong has been a 

vice general manager and marketing controller* (副總經理兼市場總監 ) of Shengzhen Guangning Industrial Company 

Limited* (深圳市廣寧股份有限公司 ).

Ms. AU Man Yi (歐敏誼 ), aged 33, was appointed as an executive Director on 15 October 2015. She holds a bachelor’s 

degree in accountancy and a master degree’s in corporate governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. 

She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an associate member of The Hong 

Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and also an associate member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries And 

Administrators. Ms. Au has over 10 years of experience in auditing, financial reporting and financial management. 

From September 2013 to October 2016, Ms. Au was the chief financial officer of Long Success International 

(Holdings) Ltd (stock code: 8017), the shares of which were listed on the GEM. Ms. Au is currently an independent 

non-executive director of Tonking New Energy Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8326), the shares of which 

are listed on the GEM. Ms. Au also acts as the chairperson of the audit committee of that listed company. Ms. Au 

was also the company secretary of Glory Flame Holdings Limited (stock code: 8059), the issued shares of which 

are listed on the GEM from October 2015 to June 2016. Ms. Au was also an independent non-executive director of 

King Force Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8315), the shares of which are listed on the GEM, from July 2015 

to September 2016.

Mr. CHAI Nan (柴楠 ), aged 31, was appointed as an executive Director on 20 April 2016. He holds an MPhil in Physics 

and MSc in Financial Math and Statistics from Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. Prior to joining the 

Group, Mr. Chai held the position of vice president of the investment department at China Travel Financial Holding 

Co., Limited. Mr. Chai has also worked in the corporate finance department of prominent China-based and regional 

investment banks, such as China Merchants Securities (HK) Co., Ltd and etc. Mr. Chai has extensive experience in 

investment, private equity, corporate finance and capital markets. Mr. Chai does not hold any directorship in any 

public company, the securities of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last 

three years or any other position with the Company and other members of the Group or other major appointments 

and professional qualifications.

* For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor HO Ho Ming (何昊洺 ) (former name: HO Wing Hang (何榮亨 )), aged 44, was appointed as an independent 

non-executive Director on 19 November 2014.

Professor Ho is currently a Professor of Practice of the Department of Finance and Insurance, Business Advisory 

Board Member and Career Development Council Advisor at Lingnan University. He is an Adjunct Professor of the 

Department of Real Estate and Construction at The University of Hong Kong and an Honorary Associate of the 

Asia-Pacific Institute of Business at The Chinese University of Hong Kong. In addition, he is an External Advisory 

Member of the Departmental Advisory Committee on Applied Mathematics at The Hong Kong Polytechnic 

University.

Professor Ho has over 16 years of experience in the field of investment banking and credit rating. He was previously 

employed by Credit Suisse First Boston (Hong Kong) Limited, Merrill Lynch (Asia Pacific) Limited, Bear Stearns Asia 

Limited, Fitch (Hong Kong) Limited and Universal Credit Rating Group.

Professor Ho graduated with a bachelor of business administration in information and systems management from 

The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in November 1996, a master of business administration from 

The University of Cambridge in May 2000, and a doctor of business administration from City University of Hong 

Kong in July 2016.

Professor Ho is a member of the audit committee and a member of the nomination committee of the Company.

Professor Ho has also acted as an independent non-executive director of Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (stock 

code: 1718) since November 2014, Kwan On Holdings Limited (stock code: 1559) since March 2015 and LEAP 

Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 1499) since August 2015.

Save as disclosed above, Professor Ho has not served any public companies the securities of which are listed on 

any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.

Mr. KO Chi Keung (高志強 ), aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 19 November 

2014. Mr. Ko has over 22 years working experience in auditing and consultancy. He was employed by Coopers & 

Lybrand Hong Kong (now known as Pricewaterhousecoopers Hong Kong), Chan, Li, Law & Co and LKY China in 

his professional career. He is currently the managing partner of LKY China, an accounting and consultancy firm.

Mr. Ko was admitted as an associate of The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants in July 1987, an 

associate of the Australian Society of Certified Practicing Accountants in February 1991, and a fellow of HKICPA 

in December 1994. Mr. Ko is also currently registered with The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong as a Certified Tax 

Adviser in 1995.
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Mr. Ko graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a degree of bachelor of business administration 

in December 1982. He also obtained a degree of master of philosophy from Sun Yat-sen University (中山大學 ), the 

PRC in December 2004.

Mr. Ko is the chairman of the remuneration committee, a member of the audit committee and a member of the 

nomination committee of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ko has not served any public companies the securities of which are listed on any 

securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.

Ms. KWONG Ka Ki (鄺嘉琪 ), aged 35, holds a Bachelor of Arts (Hon) Degree in Accounting and Finance from The 

Leeds Metropolitan University. Ms. Kwong is a member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and 

practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Kwong has over 13 years of 

experience in auditing, tax, professional accounting and internal control review of licensed brokers. Ms. Kwong was 

an independent non-executive director of China Financial Leasing Group Limited (stock code: 2312), the shares of 

which are listed on the Stock Exchange, from January 2014 to June 2014. Ms. Kwong was also an independent 

non-executive director of JC Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8326), the shares of which are listed on the 

Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM”), from August 2014 to February 2015.

Ms. Kwong is the chairperson of the audit committee, a member of the nomination committee and a member of the 

remuneration committee of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Kwong does not hold any directorship in other public companies, the securities of 

which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The following are the senior management team of our Group:

Mr. CHEUNG Yuk Tak (張育德 ), aged 34, is our financial controller and the company secretary of our Company. 

He is mainly responsible for our financial reporting, financial planning, treasury, financial control and company 

secretarial matters. Mr. Cheung joined us in April 2016. Prior to joining us, Mr. Cheung was employed by Grant 

Thornton Hong Kong Limited during 2010 to 2016 and his last position held was manager. Mr. Cheung obtained a 

bachelor’s degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in December 2004 with a major in accountancy. Mr. 

Cheung has been a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the HKICPA since March 

2008 and May 2016 respectively.

Ms. HO Sui Mei (何瑞美 ), aged 47, is our general marketing manager who is in charge of the overall operation of 

our activities in publishing technical books and organising continuing professional development courses, seminars 

and conferences. Ms. Ho joined us in August 2001. Prior to joining us, she was employed by HKIE as manager — 

conference & seminar from January 1998 to August 2001 where she was involved in the management of regional 

and international conferences and events. Ms. Ho obtained a higher diploma in public and social administration 

from The City University of Hong Kong in November 1991 and a master’s degree in management from Macquarie 

University, Australia in June 2000.
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Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is pleased to present hereby the corporate governance 

report of the Company for the year ended 31 July 2016.

The Directors and the management of the Group recognise the importance of sound corporate governance to the 

long-term success and continuing development of the Group. Therefore, the Board is committed to upholding good 

corporate standards and procedures, so as to improve the accountability system and transparency of the Group, 

protect the interests and create value for shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles and code provisions as set out in the 

Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”) in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing 

Rules. During the period from 1 August 2015 to 31 July 2016 (the “Reporting Period”), to the best knowledge of the 

Board, the Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions set out in the Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the Group’s overall strategies, the setting of 

management targets and supervision of management performance. The management is delegated with the authority 

and responsibility by the Board for the management and administration of the Group. In addition, the Board has 

also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees of the Company (the “Board Committees”). Further 

details of the Board Committees are set out in this annual report. Under the terms of reference, the duties of the 

Board in respect of corporate governance are as follows:

1. to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate governance of the Group and make 

recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior 

management;

3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors 

and employees; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the 

Company.
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Composition of the Board

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven Directors, including four executive Directors and 

three independent non-executive Directors (“INED”). In particular, the composition of the Board is set out as follow:

Executive Directors

Dr. Li Kai Shun (Chairman)

Ms. Tong Jiangxia (Vice-chairperson)  (Appointed on 15 December 2015)

Mr. Tam Yi Shek (Chief Executive Officer) (Resigned on 31 July 2016)

Mr. Chan Kin Pong (Resigned on 14 May 2016)

Mr. Tsang Siu Wah (Resigned on 14 February 2016)

Ms. Au Man Yi

Mr. Chai Nan (Appointed on 20 April 2016)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Professor Ho Ho Ming

Mr. Ko Chi Keung

Mr. Ong Chi King (Resigned on 2 June 2016)

Ms. Kwong Ka Ki (Appointed on 15 March 2016)

In compliance with rules 5.05(1) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board consisted of three INEDs during the 

Reporting Period. During the Reporting Period and as of the date of this report, the number of INEDs represents 

more than one-third of the Board. As such, there is a strong independent element in the Board to provide 

independent judgement. 

The Company has entered into a service agreement with each of the INEDs (excluding Ms. Kwong Ka Ki) for a term 

of three years, which may be terminated earlier by no less than two months written notice served by either party on 

the other. The Company has entered into a service agreement with Ms. Kwong Ka Ki for a term of two years, which 

may be terminated earlier by no less than three months written notice served by either party on the other.

Pursuant to Article 108 of the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), one-third of the Directors shall 

retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and every Director shall be subject to retirement by 

rotation at least once every three years. However, a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Specific enquiry has been made by the Company to each of the INEDs to confirm their independence pursuant to 

rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. In this connection, the Company has received the positive annual confirmations 

from all of the three INEDs. Based on the confirmations received, the Company considers all INEDs to be 

independent under the GEM Listing Rules.

Saved as disclosed in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, 

there is no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship among members of the Board and 

senior management.
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Board and General Meetings

During the Reporting Period, three board meetings were held. Subsequent to the Reporting Period, one more board 

meeting was held during the period between 1 August 2016 and the date of this report. The forthcoming annual 

general meeting which will be held on 24 November 2016 is the second general meeting of the Company since the 

date of Listing.

The attendance of the respective Directors at the Board meetings are set out below:

Attendance/Number

of meetings between

1 August 2015

and the date of

this report

Executive Directors

Dr. Li Kai Shun (Chairman) 11/11

Ms. Tong Jiangxia (Vice-chairperson) (Appointed on 15 December 2015) 6/8

Mr. Tam Yi Shek (Chief Executive Officer) (Resigned on 31 July 2016) 9/9

Mr. Chan Kin Pong (Resigned on 14 May 2016) 9/9

Mr. Tsang Siu Wah (Resigned on 14 February 2016) 4/4

Ms. Au Man Yi 10/10

Mr. Chai Nan (Appointed on 20 April 2016) 2/2

Independent Non-executive Directors

Professor Ho Ho Ming 8/11

Mr. Ko Chi Keung 9/11

Mr. Ong Chi King (Resigned on 2 June 2016) 9/9

Ms. Kwong Ka Ki (Appointed on 15 March 2016) 5/5

CHAIRMAN AND VICE-CHAIRPERSON

The roles of chairman and vice-chairperson are separated to ensure a balance of power and authority and that 

power is not concentrated in any one individual. The functions of the chairman and the vice-chairperson of the 

Company are clearly segregated. The present chairman of the Board, Dr. Li Kai Shun, is responsible for providing 

leadership for the Board. His main responsibility is to ensure that the Board works effectively and that all key and 

appropriate issues are discussed by it in a timely manner. The chairman is also responsible for ensuring that good 

corporate governance practices and procedures are established and followed. The chairman is also responsible for 

ensuring appropriate steps be taken to provide effective communication with the shareholders and that the views 

of shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole. The present vice-chairperson of the Company, Ms. 

Tong Jiangxia, is responsible for the overall business operations of the Group focusing on strategic planning and 

business development.

RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN THE BOARD

There was no financial, business, family or other material relationship among the Directors. The biographical 

details of each of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior 

Management” of this annual report.
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CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the required standard of standards set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing 

Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors in respect of the shares of the Company 

(the “Code of Conduct”). The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors, and all Directors have confirmed 

that they have fully complied with the required standard of dealings set out in the Code of Conduct during the 

period from 1 August 2015 to 31 July 2016.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

The Group acknowledges the importance of adequate and ample continuing professional development for the 

Directors for a sound and effective internal control system and corporate governance. In this regard, the Group 

has always encouraged our Directors to attend relevant training courses to receive the latest news and knowledge 

regarding corporate governance.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has provided and all Directors have attended at least one training course 

on the updates of the GEM Listing Rules concerning good corporate governance practices. The Company will, if 

necessary, provide timely and regular trainings to the Directors to ensure that they keep abreast with the current 

requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established a number of functional committees in compliance with the relevant GEM Listing 

Rules and to assist the Board to discharge its duties. Currently, four committees have been established. An 

audit committee (“Audit Committee”) has been established on 19 November 2014 with its terms of reference 

in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules, and paragraphs C3.3 and C3.7 of the Code; a 

remuneration committee (“Remuneration Committee”) has been established on 19 November 2014 with its terms of 

reference in compliance with paragraph B1.2 of the Code; and a nomination committee (“Nomination Committee”) 

has been established on 19 November 2014 with terms of reference a compliance with paragraph A5.2 of the 

Code. The functions and responsibilities of these committees have been set out in the relevant terms of reference 

which are of no less stringent than that stated in the Code. The relevant terms of reference of each of the three 

committees can be found on the Group’s website (www.kslholdings.com) and the website of the Stock Exchange. 

In addition to the abovementioned committees, a legal compliance committee (“Legal Compliance Committee”) has 

been established on 19 November 2014. All committees have been provided with sufficient resources and support 

from the Group to discharge their duties.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Ms. Kwong Ka Ki (Chairperson), 

Professor Ho Ho Ming and Mr. Ko Chi Keung, all of whom are INEDs. The members of the Audit Committee shall 

comprise non-executive Directors and shall be appointed or removed by the Board. If any member of the Audit 

Committee ceases to be a Director, he/she will cease to be a member of the Audit Committee automatically.

The Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members, at least one of whom is an INED with 

appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise as required under 

Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules. In addition, the majority of the Audit Committee shall be INEDs.
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With reference to the terms of reference, the primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are, among others (for 

the complete terms of reference please refer to the Group’s website www.kslholdings.com or the weibsite of the 

Stock Exchange):

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the Company’s 

external auditors, and approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the Company’s external 

auditors;

2. to review and monitor the Company’s external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of 

the audit process in accordance with applicable standards;

3. to develop and implement policy on engaging the Company’s external auditors to supply non-audit services, 

if any;

4. to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-year report, 

quarterly report and review significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

5. to discuss with the Company’s external auditors questions and doubts arising in audit of annual accounts;

6. to review the letter of the Company’s management from the Company’s external auditors and the 

management’s response;

7. to review the statement about the Company’s internal control system as included in the Company’s annual 

report prior to submission for the Board’s approval;

8. to review the Company’s financial reporting, financial controls, internal control and risk management systems;

9. to discuss the internal control system with the Company’s management to ensure that management has 

performed its duty to have an effective internal control system;

10. to consider major investigation findings on internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own 

initiative and management’s response to these findings;

11. to review the financial and accounting policies and practices of the Group;

12. to review the external auditor’s management letter, any material queries raised by the auditor to the 

management in respect of accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and management’s 

response;

13. to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the issues raised in the external auditor’s 

management letter;

14. to report to the Board on that matters pursuant to the terms of reference of the Audit Committee and consider 

other topics as defined by the Board; and

15. to review arrangements employees of the Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible 

improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s unaudited quarterly results for the 

three months ended 31 October 2015, interim results for the six months ended 31 January 2016, quarterly results 

for the nine months ended 30 April 2016 and discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters. The Audit 

Committee had also reviewed audited annual results for the financial year ended 31 July 2016, this annual report, 

and confirmed that this annual report complies with the applicable standard, the GEM Listing Rules, and other 

applicable legal requirements and that adequate disclosures have been made. There is no disagreement between 

the Directors and the Audit Committee regarding the selection and appointment of the external auditors.

The Board is of the view that the Audit Committee has properly discharged its duties and responsibilities during the 

Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had held three meetings. Between 1 August 2015 and the date of 

this report, the Audit Committee has held five meetings, four of which with full attendance by all the members of the 

Audit Committee. The attendance records of the members of the Audit Committee are summarised below:

Attendance/Number

of meetings between

1 August 2015

and the date of

this report

Ms. Kwong Ka Ki (Chairperson)  (Appointed on 15 March 2016) 2/2

Professor Ho Ho Ming 4/5

Mr. Ko Chi Keung 5/5

Mr. Ong Chi King (Resigned on 2 June 2016) 4/4
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Ko Chi Keung (Chairman), Ms. Au Man Yi, 

and Ms. Kwong Ka Ki. Mr. Ko and Ms. Kwong are INEDs of the Company.

With reference to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, the primary responsibilities of the 

Remuneration Committee include (for the complete terms of reference please refer to the Group’s website www.

kslholdings.com or the website of the Stock Exchange):

1. to consult the chairman of the Board and/or chief executive about their remuneration proposals for other 

executive Directors;

2. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior 

management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing 

remuneration policy;

3. to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate 

goals and objectives;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and 

senior management;

5. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors;

6. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and employment 

conditions elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;

7. to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and senior management for any loss or 

termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair 

and not excessive;

8. to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for 

misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and 

appropriate; and

9. to ensure that no Directors or any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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The attendance records of the members of the Remuneration Committee are summarised below:

Attendance/Number

of meetings between

1 August 2015

and the date of

this report

Mr. Ko Chi Keung (Chairman) 5/6

Mr. Ong Chi King (Resigned on 2 June 2016) 5/5

Mr. Tam Yi Shek (Resigned on 31 July 2016) 5/5

Ms. Au Man Yi (Appointed on 31 July 2016) 1/1

Ms. Kwong Ka Ki (Appointed on 2 June 2016) 1/1

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and made recommendation on the 

remuneration package of senior management of the Group. The Board is of the view that the Remuneration 

Committee has properly discharged its duties and responsibilities during the Reporting Period and up to the date of 

this report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises four members, namely Dr. Li Kai Shun (Chairman), Professor Ho Ho Ming, 

Mr. Ko Chi Keung and Ms. Kwong Ka Ki. Professor Ho, Mr. Ko and Ms. Kwong are INEDs of the Company.

With reference to the terms of reference the Nomination Committee, the primary responsibilities of the Nomination 

Committee include (for the complete terms of reference please refer to the Group’s website www.kslholdings.com 

or the website of the Stock Exchange):

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board 

and make recommendations on proposed changes, if any, to the Board to complement the Company’s 

corporate strategy;

2. to review the Company’s board diversity policy and the progress on achieving the objectives set for 

implementing the said policy;

3. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations to 

the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

4. to assess the independence of INEDs; and

5. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession 

planning for Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.
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During the Reporting Period, the members of Nomination Committee did not hold any meeting.

The attendance records of the members of the Nomination Committee are summarised below:

Attendance/

Number of

meetings between

1 August 2015

and the date of

this report

Dr. Li Kai Shun (Chairman) 6/6

Professor Ho Ho Ming 4/6

Mr. Ko Chi Keung 5/6

Ms. Kwong Ka Ki (Appointed on 15 March 2016) 3/3

LEGAL COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Legal Compliance Committee comprises three members, namely Dr. Li Kai Shun (Chairman), Ms. Au Man Yi 

and Ms. Kwong Ka Ki. Ms. Kwong is an INED of the Company.

With reference to the terms of reference of the Legal Compliance Committee, the primary duties of the Legal 

Compliance Committee are to assist in overseeing our compliance with laws and regulations relevant to our 

business operations and to review the effectiveness of our regulatory compliance procedures and system.

The attendance records of the members of the Legal Compliance Committee are summarised below:

Attendance/

Number of

meetings between

1 August 2015

and the date of

this report

Dr. Li Kai Shun (Chairman) 2/2

Mr. Leung Cheuk Hei (Resigned on 18 April 2016) 1/1

Mr. Ong Chi King (Resigned on 2 June 2016) 1/1

Ms. Au Man Yi (Appointed on 18 April 2016) 1/1

Ms. Kwong Ka Ki (Appointed on 2 June 2016) 1/1

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the Group engaged HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) as the Group’s 

external auditors. The remuneration paid and payable to HLB is set out as follows:

Services rendered Fees paid/payable

(HK$’000)

Statutory audit services 800
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Yuk Tak (“Mr. Cheung”) was appointed as the company secretary of our Company on 30 June 

2016. Please refer to the section “Biographical details of Directors and Senior Management” for his biographical 

information.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Cheung has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in 

accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Dr. Li Kai Shun, an executive Director and chairman of the Board, is the compliance officer of the Group. Please 

refer to the section “Biographical details of Directors and Senior Management” for his biographical information.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board and the senior management are responsible for improving and monitoring the internal control of the 

Group. In this connection, the Board constantly and actively seeks to strengthen the internal control system of 

the Group by way of, among other things, regular review of the effectiveness of the internal control measures 

and mechanism adopted by the Group in respect of financial, operational and compliance controls and risk 

management functions, etc.

In addition, the Group has engaged a professional advisory firm of internal control to perform regular review of the 

internal control system of the Group for the Reporting Period and the results were summarized and reported to the 

Audit Committee and the Board. The Board will continue to strive for a better control by way of consulting with the 

professional advisor and adopting the recommendations made by the firm.

REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the Reporting Period, the remuneration of the senior management is listed below by band:

Number 

of individuals

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 2

Details of the directors’ remuneration and five highest paid individuals for the Relevant Period as regarded to be 

disclosed pursuant to the Code are provided in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial statements 

and to ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in a manner which reflects the 

true and fair view of the state of affairs, results and cash flows of the Group and are in compliance with the relevant 

accounting standards and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions required of the GEM Listing Rules. 

The Directors are of the view that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for each financial year have 

been prepared on this basis.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, there is no uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, therefore the Directors continue to 

adopt the going concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Statement of the Company’s external auditors’ responsibilities in respect of the consolidated financial statements is 

set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report of this report.

GENERAL MEETINGS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The annual general meeting (“AGM”) is a forum in which the Board and the shareholders communicate directly and 

exchange views concerning the affairs and overall performance of the Group, and its future developments, etc. 

At the AGM, the Directors (including INEDs) are available to attend to questions raised by the shareholders. The 

external auditors of the Company is also invited to be present at the AGM to address to queries of the shareholders 

concerning the audit procedures and the auditors’ report.

The AGM of the Company will be held on 24 November 2016, the notice of which shall be sent to the shareholders 

of the Company at least 20 clear business days prior to the meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting on Requisition by Shareholders

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general 

meeting (“EGM”). EGMs shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding, at the 

date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right 

of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary of 

the Company for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business 

specified in such requisition. If, within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, 

all reasonable expenses incurred by the acquisition(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to 

the requisition(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders’ Nomination of Directors

Pursuant to article 113 of the Articles, no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the 

Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of 

the intention to propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness 

to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the registration office of the Company. The period for 

lodgment of the notices required under the Article will commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the 

notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such 

general meeting and the minimum length of the period during which such notices to the Company may be given will 

be at least 7 days.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may direct their enquiries concerning their shareholdings to the Company’s share registrars. 

Shareholders may also make a request for the Company’s information to the extent that such information has been 

made publicly available by the Company. All written enquiries or requests may be forwarded to the Company’s 

head office or by fax to (852) 2104 0052, or by email to feedback@kslholdings.com.

The addresses of the Company’s head office and the Company’s share registrars can be found in the section 

“Corporate Information” of this annual report.

Investor Relations

To ensure transparent and comprehensive disclosures to investors, the Group delivers information of the Group to 

the public through various channels, including general meeting, public announcement and financial reports. The 

investors are also able to access the latest news and information of the Group via our website (www.kslholdings.

com).

In order to maintain good and effective communication, the Company together with the Board extend their invitation 

to all shareholders and encourage them to attend the forthcoming AGM and all future general meetings.

The shareholders may also forward their enquiries and suggestions in writing to the Company to the followings:

Address: Office A and Office B, 12th Floor,

 Billion Plaza 2,

 10 Cheung Yue Street,

 Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: feedback@kslholdings.com

Significant Changes in Constitutional Documents

Save for the adoption of the amended and restated memorandum and articles of association for the purpose of the 

listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange, during the year ended 31 July 2016, there had been 

no significant changes in the constitutional documents of the Company.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for 

the year ended 31 July 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of 

engineering consulting, contracting and project management services in Hong Kong with a focus on geotechnical 

engineering works.

RESULT AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 July 2016 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income on page 38.

The Board did not recommend payment of final dividend to shareholders of the Company for the Reporting Period.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

As the forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on 24 November 2016 (Thursday), the register of members 

of the Company will be closed from 23 November 2016 (Wednesday) to 24 November 2016 (Thursday) (both days 

inclusive) for the said AGM or any adjournment thereof. All transfer of the Company’s shares together with the 

relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office no later 

than 4:30 p.m. on 22 November 2016 (Tuesday) in order to qualify for the right to attend and vote at the meeting (or 

any adjournment thereof). The share registrar and transfer office is at:

Address: Tricor Investor Services Limited

 Level 22, Hopewell Centre

 183 Queen’s Road East

 Hong Kong

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the past two financial years are set out on page 91.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in 

note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 July 2016 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated 

financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

The Company’s total issued share capital as at 31 July 2016 was 411,200,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each.

Details of movements of the share capital and the share premium of the Company during the Reporting Period are 
set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration 
of the Directors and senior management of the Group. The remunerations of the Directors are determined with 
reference to the economic situation, the market condition, the responsibilities and duties assumed by each Director 
as well as their individual performance.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 25 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

As of 31 July 2016, the reserves of the Company available for distribution, as calculated under the provisions of 
section 79B of the Companies Ordinance, and in accordance with the Companies Law Cap. 22 of Cayman Islands, 
was approximately HK$20.5 million (31 July 2015: HK$21.3 million) inclusive of share premium and retained 
earnings.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the share option scheme (the “Scheme“) which was adopted on 19 November 2014 are set out in 
note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

No share options were granted since the adoption of the Scheme and there were no share option outstanding as at 
31 July 2016.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Li Kai Shun (Chairman)
Ms. Tong Jiangxia (Vice-chairperson) (Appointed on 15 December 2015)
Mr. Tam Yi Shek (Resigned on 31 July 2016)
Mr. Chan Kin Pong (Resigned on 14 May 2016)
Mr. Tsang Siu Wah (Resigned on 14 February 2016)
Ms. Au Man Yi
Mr. Chai Nan (Appointed on 20 April 2016)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Professor Ho Ho Ming
Mr. Ko Chi Keung
Mr. Ong Chi King (Resigned on 2 June 2016)
Ms. Kwong Ka Ki (Appointed on 15 March 2016)
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The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior 

Management” in this report.

Information regarding directors’ emoluments is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

An annual confirmation of independence pursuant to the requirements under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules 

has been received from each of the INEDs.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Dr. Li Kai Shun has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of three years, and the remaining 

executive Directors entered into service agreements with the Company for a term of two years. All of these service 

agreements may be terminated earlier by no less than two months written notice served by either party on the 

other.

Each of the INEDs (excluding Ms. Kwong Ka Ki) has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term 

of three years, which may be terminated earlier by no less than two months written notice served by either party on 

the other. Ms. Kwong Ka Ki has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of two years, which 

may be terminated earlier by no less than three months written notice served by either party on the other.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract which is not determinable 

by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation. The non-

executive Director of the Company was appointed for a fixed period but subject to retirement from office and re-

election at the AGM of the Company in accordance with the Articles.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles, any director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy 

shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-

election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold 

office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. 

Ms. Tong Jiangxia, Mr. Chai Nan and Ms. Kwong Ka Ki will retire from office as Director at the forthcoming AGM, 

and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being 

(or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from 

office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least 

once every three years. Professor Ho Ho Ming and Mr. Ko Chi Keung will retire from office as Directors at the 

forthcoming AGM, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of the executive Directors shall also be entitled to discretionary bonus to be determined by the Board based 

on, among other things, the performance of the individual directors and the overall financial position of the Group, 

and is subject to the recommendation of the remuneration committee of the Company.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

A. Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and 

Debentures

As at 31 July 2016, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in 

the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the 

meanings of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) 

which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO 

(including interests or short positions which any such director or chief executive is taken or deemed to have under 

such provision of the SFO) or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register 

of members of the Company, or which were required, pursuant to standard of dealings by Directors as referred to 

the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

(i) Long Position in the Company’s Shares

Number of Approximate

Shares held/ percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature interested in shareholding

Dr. Li Kai Shun (Note 1) Interest in controlled corporation 110,080,000 26.77%

Note:

1. Dr. Li Kai Shun (“Dr. Li”) beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of Sonic Solutions Limited (“Sonic 

Solutions”) and is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the Shares by Sonic Solutions for the purposes of the SFO. 

Dr. Li is an executive Director, the chairman of the Company and the director of Sonic Solutions.

(ii) Long position in the ordinary shares of associated corporations

Number of

Name of share held/ Percentage of

Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/Nature interested in shareholding

Dr. Li Sonic Solutions Beneficial owner 1 100%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 July 2016, none of the Directors and chief executive and their associates had 

registered an interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any 

associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which was required to be recorded in the 

register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or was required as otherwise to notify the Company 

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Code of Practice for Securities Transactions by Directors and Designated 

Employees adopted by the Company.
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B. Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying 

Shares and Debentures

As at 31 July 2016, the interest and short positions of the person (other than the Directors or chief executive of the 

Company) or company which was required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of 

the SFO were as follows:

Name of Shareholder

Capacity/Nature

of interest

Number of

Shares held/

interested in

Long/short

position

Approximate

percentage of

total issued share

capital of

the Company

Sonic Solutions (Note 1) Beneficial owner 110,080,000 Long 26.77%

Ms. Lam Joley (Note 2) Interest of spouse 110,080,000 Long 26.77%

Ms. Kuang Fang Fang Beneficial owner 30,000,000 Long 7.30%

Mr. Pan Guorong Beneficial owner 30,000,000 Long 7.30%

Notes:

1. Dr. Li beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of Sonic Solutions and is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the 

Shares held by Sonic Solutions for the purposes of the SFO. Dr. Li is an executive Director, the chairman of the Company 

and the director of Sonic Solutions.

2. Ms. Lam Joley is the spouse of Dr. Li and is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the Shares in which Dr. Li is interested 

for the purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 July 2016, no person, other than the Directors and chief executive of the 

Company whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions 

in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, had notified the Company of an interest or short positon in 

the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was required to be recorded in the register required to be kept 

by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 83.3% (2015: 85.5%) 

of the total revenue of the Group and the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately 57.8% (2015: 

54.5%) of the total revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors 

own 5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest 

customers.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 98.6% (2015: 98.3%) 

of the total purchases of the Group and the largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 44.9% (2015: 

45.8%) of the total purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors 

own 5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest 

suppliers.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the related party transactions disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements, no contract of 

significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, holding company or fellow subsidiaries was a party 

and in which a Director had a material interests directly or indirectly subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period or 

at any time during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No management contracts concerning the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were 

entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 July 2016 were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares 

in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective associates, or were any such rights 

exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a 

party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company had not entered into any connected transaction during the Reporting Period which is required to be 

disclosed under the GEM Listing Rules. Related party transactions entered into by the Group during the Reporting 

Period are disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST

During the year ended 31 July 2016, according to the GEM Listing Rules, the following Directors have interests in 

the following business which are considered to compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with 

the business of the Group other than those businesses where the Directors of the Company were appointed as 

directors to represent the interests of the Company and/or the Group:

Name of Director:

Name of entity which are 

considered to compete or 

likely to compete with the 

business of the Group: Description of business: Nature of interests:

Ong Chi King

(Note)
Deson Construction 

International Holdings 

Limited (“Deson”)

Principally engaged in (i) building 

construction works; (ii) electrical 

and mechanical engineering 

works; and (iii) fitting out works

Execut ive  d i rector  and 

interests in approximately 

0 .98% of  issued share 

capital of Deson

WLS Holdings Limited Pr inc ipa l l y  engaged  i n  ( i ) 

p rov i s ion  o f  management 

contracting services; and (ii) 

other services for construction 

and building work

Independent non-executive 

director

 

Wan Kei Group 

Holdings Limited

(“Wan Kei Group”)

P r i nc ipa l l y  engaged  i n  ( i ) 

foundat ion  works ;  and ( i i ) 

ground investigation field work

Independent non-executive 

director

Ho Ho Ming Wan Kei Group Pr inc ipa l l y  engaged  i n  ( i ) 

foundat ion  works ;  and ( i i ) 

ground investigation field work

Independent non-executive 

director

LEAP Holdings 

Group Limited

Pr inc ipal ly  engaged in  the 

provision of (i) foundation works 

and ancillary services; and (ii) 

construction wastes handling at 

the public fill reception facilities 

manage by the government in 

Hong Kong

Independent non-executive 

director

As the Board is independent of the boards of the abovementioned entities and none of the above Directors can 

control the Board, the Group is therefore capable of carrying its business independently of and at arm’s length from 

the businesses of these entities.

Save as disclosed, during the year ended 31 July 2016, none of the Directors, the controlling shareholders and 

substantial shareholders of the Company, neither themselves nor their respective close associates (as defined in 

the GEM Listing Rules) had held any position or had interest in any businesses or companies that were or might be 

materially competing with the business of the Group, or gave rise to any concern regarding conflict of interests.

Note:  Ong Chi King resigned as an independent non-executive director of our Company with effect from 2 June 2016.
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COMPLIANCE ADVISOR’S INTERESTS

As at 31 July 2016, as notified by the Company’s compliance advisor, Dakin Capital Limited (the “Compliance 

Advisor”), except for the compliance advisor agreement entered into between the Company and the Compliance 

Advisor dated 24 February 2016, neither the Compliance Advisor nor its directors, employees or its close associates 

(as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any interests in relation to the Company which is required to be 

notified to the Group pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 July 2016, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or 

redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the year ended 31 July 2016, the Company has complied with the applicable code provisions of the 

Corporate Governance Code as set out in the Code.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted the Code of Conduct. Having made specific enquiries with the Directors, all Directors have 

confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out in the Code of Conduct during the year 

ended 31 July 2016.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme on 19 November 2014 (“the Scheme”). The terms 

of the Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. No share options has 

been granted since the adoption of the Scheme and there were no share option outstanding as at 31 July 2016.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on information that is publicly available to the Company, at least 

25% of the Company’s issued share capital were held by the public as at the date of this report.
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AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) shall retire in the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer 

themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of HLB as auditors of the Company will be 

proposed at the forthcoming AGM. The Company has not changed its external auditors during the year ended 31 

July 2016 and up to the date of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee on 19 November 2014 with its written terms of reference in 

compliance with paragraphs C.3.3 and C.3.7 of the Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review 

and supervise the Group’s financial reporting process, risk management and internal control system of the Group, 

nominate and monitor external auditors and to provide advice and comments to the Board on matters related to 

corporate governance. As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee consists of three members, namely 

Ms. Kwong Ka Ki (Chariperson), Mr. Ko Chi Keung and Professor Ho Ho Ming.

On behalf of the Board

KSL Holdings Limited

Li Kai Shun

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 October 2016
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31/F, Gloucester Tower

The Landmark

11 Pedder Street

Central

Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KSL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of KSL Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 38 to 90, which comprise the consolidated 

statement of financial position as at 31 July 2016, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash 

flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a 

true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for 

such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. This 

report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or 

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong 

Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards 

require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 

of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group 

as at 31 July 2016, and of the Group’s financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 

with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Jonathan T. S. Lai

Practising Certificate Number: P04165

Hong Kong, 26 October 2016
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2016 2015

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 124,799 154,503

Cost of sales 6 (92,435) (100,935)
  

Gross profit 32,364 53,568

Other income and net gains 5 3,726 1,759

Administrative and other operating expenses 6 (18,219) (18,391)
  

Operating profit 17,871 36,936

Finance costs 9 (3) (53)
  

Profit before income tax 17,868 36,883

Income tax expense 10 (3,198) (6,948)
  

Profit for the year 14,670 29,935
  

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:

Gain on revaluation of properties upon transfer 

 to investment properties 14 — 4,360
  

Other comprehensive income for the year — 4,360
  

Total comprehensive income for the year 14,670 34,295
  

Profit for the year attributable to:

 Owners of the Company 14,722 29,935

 Non-controlling interests (52) —
  

Profit for the year 14,670 29,935
  

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

 Owners of the Company 14,722 34,295

 Non-controlling interests (52) —
  

Total comprehensive income 14,670 34,295
  

Basic and diluted earnings per share (HK cents) 11 3.6 7.6
  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. Details of dividends paid 

and proposed are disclosed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
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2016 2015

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 2,572 3,553

Investment properties 15 — 17,700
  

2,572 21,253
  

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 17 13,961 23,043

Amounts due from customers for contract work 18 917 769

Amounts due from non-controlling interests 19 494 —

Cash and cash equivalents 20 103,227 70,822
  

118,599 94,634
  

Total assets 121,171 115,887
  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Share capital 23 4,112 4,112

Share premium 23 24,394 24,394

Other reserves 25 78,743 64,021
  

 107,249 92,527

Non-controlling interests 442 —
  

Total equity 107,691 92,527
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2016 2015

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 22 — 159
  

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 22 9,985 14,857

Amounts due to customers for contract work 18 1,056 78

Borrowings 21 — 171

Tax payable 2,439 8,095
  

13,480 23,201
  

Total liabilities 13,480 23,360
  

Total equity and liabilities 121,171 115,887
  

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 

October 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Dr. Li Kai Shun Ms. Au Man Yi

Director Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Attributable to owners of the Company

Share

capital

Share

premium

Other

reserves Sub-total

Non-

controlling

interests

Total

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 23) (Note 23) (Note 25)

Balance at 1 August 2014 20 — 52,810 52,830 — 52,830
      

Profit for the year — — 29,935 29,935 — 29,935

Gain on revaluation of

 properties upon transfer

 to investment properties — — 4,360 4,360 — 4,360
      

Total comprehensive

 income for the year — — 34,295 34,295 — 34,295
      

Transactions with owners:

Dividend (Note 12) — — (22,590) (22,590) — (22,590)

Reorganisation 494 — (494) — — —

Shares issued pursuant to

 the capitalisation issue 3,084 (3,084) — — — —

Proceeds from placing

 of shares 514 30,326 — 30,840 — 30,840

Share issuance costs — (2,848) — (2,848) — (2,848)
      

4,092 24,394 (23,084) 5,402 — 5,402
      

Balance at 31 July 2015 4,112 24,394 64,021 92,527 — 92,527
      

Balance at 1 August 2015 4,112 24,394 64,021 92,527 — 92,527
      

Profit for the year — — 14,722 14,722 (52) 14,670
      

Total comprehensive

 income for the year — — 14,722 14,722 (52) 14,670
      

Transactions with owners:

Capital contribution by 

 non-controlling interests — — — — 494 494
      

— — — — 494 494
      

Balance at 31 July 2016 4,112 24,394 78,743 107,249 442 107,691
      

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2016 2015

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash generated from operations 26(a) 22,445 48,280

Income tax paid (8,854) (5,331)

Interest received 2 —
  

Net cash generated from operating activities 13,593 42,949
  

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired 28 (1,292) —

Disposal of a subsidiary 29 245 —

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 499 —

Net proceeds from disposal of investment properties 20,056 —

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (522) (1,932)
  

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 18,986 (1,932)
  

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from placing of shares — 30,840

Share issuance costs — (2,848)

Repayment of finance leases (171) (220)

Repayment of bank borrowings — (5,638)

Interest paid on finance leases (3) (13)

Interest paid on bank borrowings — (40)
  

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (174) 22,081
  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 32,405 63,098

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 70,822 7,724
  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 20 103,227 70,822
  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

KSL Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 17 July 2014 as an 

exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares have 

been listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (the “GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 

“Stock Exchange”) with effect from 5 December 2014.

The address of the Company’s registered office is Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman 

KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong is Office 

A and Office B, 12th Floor, Billion Plaza 2, 10 Cheung Yue Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company is an 

investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as to the “Group”) are 

principally engaged in the provision of engineering consulting, contracting and project management services 

in Hong Kong with a focus on geotechnical engineering works remained the same for the year ended 31 July 

2016. In addition, the Group expanded its principal business activities to include the provision of interior 

design and decoration services during the year ended 31 July 2016.

Prior to the corporate reorganisation undertaken in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on 

the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “Reorganisation”), the group entities were under the control of Dr. Li Kai 

Shun (“Dr. Li”). Through the Reorganisation, the Company became the holding company of the companies 

now comprising the Group on 19 November 2014. Accordingly, for the purpose of the preparation of the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group, the Company has been considered as the holding company 

of the companies now comprising the Group throughout the years presented. The Group comprising the 

Company and its subsidiaries resulting from the Reorganisation is regarded as a continuing entity. The Group 

was under the control of Dr. Li prior to and after the Reorganisation.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared as if the Company had been the holding company 

of the Group throughout the years presented in accordance with Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting 

for Common Control Combinations” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the 

“HKICPA”). The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the years presented, which 

include the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the companies now comprising the Group, have been 

prepared as if the current group structure had been in existence throughout the years presented, or since their 

respective dates of incorporation, where this is a shorter period.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the 

functional currency of the Company. These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue 

by the Board of Directors on 26 October 2016.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set 

out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Hong 

Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated 

financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of 

Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The 

consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified 

by the revaluation of investment properties, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical 

accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 

the accounting policies of the Group. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, 

or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are 

disclosed in Note 4.

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following amendments to standards have been adopted by the Group for the first time 

for the financial year beginning on or after 1 August 2015:

Amendment to HKAS 19 on contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit 

plans. The amendment distinguishes between contributions that are linked to service only 

in the period in which they arise and those linked to service in more than one period. The 

amendment allows contributions that are linked to service, and do not vary with the length 

of employee service, to be deducted from the cost of benefits earned in the period that the 

service is provided. Contributions that are linked to service, and vary according to the length 

of employee service, must be spread over the service period using the same attribution 

method that is applied to the benefits.

Amendments from annual improvements to HKFRSs – 2010 – 2012 Cycle, on HKFRS 8, 

“Operating Segments”, HKAS 16, “Property, Plant and Equipment” and HKAS 38, “Intangible 

Assets” and HKAS 24, “Related Party Disclosures”.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

2.1 Basis of preparation – continued

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures – continued

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group – continued

Amendments from annual improvements to HKFRSs – 2011 – 2013 Cycle, on HKFRS 3, 

“Business Combinations”, HKFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurement” and HKAS 40, “Investment 

Property”.

The adoption of the above new amendments of HKFRSs did not have any significant impact 

on the consolidated financial statements.

(b) New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)

In addition, the requirements of Part 9 “Accounts and Audit” of the new Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) come into operation during the financial year, as a result, 

there are changes to presentation and disclosures of certain information in the consolidated 

financial statements.

(c) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective 

for annual periods beginning after 1 August 2015, and have not been applied in preparing 

these consolidated financial statements. None of these is expected to have a significant 

effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group, except the following set out 

below:

HKFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”, addresses the classification, measurement and 

recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. The complete version of HKFRS 9 was 

issued in July 2014. It replaces the guidance in HKAS 39 that relates to the classification 

and measurement of financial instruments. HKFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed 

measurement model and establishes three primary measurement categories for financial 

assets: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income and fair value through 

profit or loss. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and the 

contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in equity instruments 

are required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option 

at inception to present changes in fair value in other comprehensive income not recycling. 

There is now a new expected credit losses model that replaces the incurred loss impairment 

model used in HKAS 39. For financial liabilities there were no changes to classification and 

measurement except for the recognition of changes in own credit risk in other comprehensive 

income, for liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss. HKFRS 9 relaxes the 

requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness tests. It 

requires an economic relationship between the hedged item and hedging instrument and for 

the “hedged ratio” to be the same as the one management actually use for risk management 

purposes.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

2.1 Basis of preparation – continued

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures – continued

(c) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted  – continued

Contemporaneous documentation is still required but is different to that currently prepared 

under HKAS 39. The standard is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2018. Early adoption is permitted. The Group is yet to assess HKFRS 9’s full impact.

HKFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” deals with revenue recognition and 

establishes principles for reporting useful information to users of financial statements about 

the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s 

contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of a good 

or service and thus has the ability to direct the use and obtain the benefits from the good or 

service. The standard replaces HKAS 18 “Revenue” and HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” 

and related interpretations. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2018 and earlier application is permitted. The Group is assessing the impact of 

HKFRS 15.

HKFRS 16, “Leases” introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease 

arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees. It distinguishes leases 

and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. 

Subject to limited exceptions for short-term leases and low value assets, distinctions of 

operating and finance leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model 

where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases 

by lessees. However, the standard does not significantly change the accounting of lessors. 

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and earlier 

application is permitted.

Application of HKFRS 16 will result in the Group’s recognition of right-of-use assets and 

corresponding liabilities in respect of the Group’s lease arrangements. These assets and 

liabilities are currently not required to be recognised but certain relevant information is 

disclosed as commitments to these financial statements. The Group is assessing the impact 

of HKFRS 16.

There are no other HKFRSs or HK(IFRIC) interpretations that are not yet effective that would 

be expected to have a material impact on the Group.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

2.2 Consolidation and combination

The consolidated financial statements includes the financial statements of the Company and all its 

subsidiaries made up to respective year end dates.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group 

controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 

with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries 

are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-

consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Except for the Reorganisation, the Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for 

business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values 

of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity 

interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or 

liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed 

as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 

combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any 

non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the 

non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amount of the acquiree’s identifiable net 

assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 

and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of 

the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-

controlling interest recognised and previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of the net 

assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly 

in the profit or loss.

Inter-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies 

are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 

changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2016

48Annual Report 2015/2016

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

2.2 Consolidation and combination – continued

2.2.1 Transaction with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of 

the Group. For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration 

paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is 

recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in 

equity.

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the 

entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or 

loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for 

the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as 

if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

2.2.2 Merger accounting for common control combinations

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements items of the combining 

entities or businesses in which the common control combination occurs as if they had been 

combined from the date when the combining entities or businesses first came under the control of 

the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are consolidated using the existing book 

values from the controlling parties’ perspective. No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill 

or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities over cost at the time of common control combination, to the extent of the 

continuation of the controlling party’s interest. The consolidated statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income include the results of each of the combining entities or businesses 

from the earliest date presented or since the date when the combining entities or businesses 

first came under the common control, where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date of the 

common control combination.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

2.2 Consolidation and combination – continued

2.2.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct 

attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on 

the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividend from 

these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the 

period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial 

statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s 

net assets including goodwill.

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 

chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating 

resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the board of 

directors that makes strategic decisions.

2.4 Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the 

currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the 

Group’s presentation currency.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land classified as finance lease and all other property, plant and equipment are stated at 

historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Historical cost 

includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 

the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 

derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period 

in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences amortisation from the time when the land interest 

becomes available for its intended use. Amortisation on leasehold land classified as finance lease and 

depreciation on other property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to 

allocate their costs to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

— Leasehold properties : Over shorter of lease terms and 50 years

— Leasehold improvements : 20% - 331/3%

— Furniture, fixtures and office equipment : 20% - 331/3%

— Motor vehicles : 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 

reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 

amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and 

are recognised within “Administrative and other operating expenses” in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

2.6 Investment property

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold land and buildings, is held for long-term rental 

yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group. It also includes 

properties that are being constructed or developed for future use as investment properties. Land held 

under operating leases are accounted for as investment properties when the rest of the definition of 

an investment property is met. In such cases, the operating leases concerned are accounted for as if 

they were finance leases. Investment property is initially measured at cost, including related transaction 

costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After initial recognition, investment properties are carried 

at fair value, representing open market value determined at each reporting date by external valuers. Fair 

value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location 

or condition of the specific asset. If the information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation 

methods such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. Changes in 

fair values are recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

as part of a valuation gain or loss in “Other income and net gains”.

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 

impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 

is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 

separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that 

suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.8 Construction contracts in progress

Construction work-in-progress is valued at cost incurred plus an appropriate proportion of profits after 

deducting progress payments and allowances for foreseeable losses. Cost comprises construction 

material costs, labour and overheads expenses incurred in bringing the work-in-progress to its present 

condition.

The Group presents as an asset the gross amount due from customers for contract work for all contracts 

in progress for which costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceed progress 

billings. Progress billings not yet paid by customers and retention are included within trade and retention 

receivables. The Group presents as a liability the gross amount due to customers for contract work for 

all contracts in progress for which progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits (less 

recognised losses).
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

2.9 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 

12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. The Group’s 

loans and receivables comprise “trade and other receivables”, “amounts due from non-controlling 

interests” and “cash and cash equivalents” in the consolidated statement of financial position.

2.10 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a 

financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is 

impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 

of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that 

loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of 

financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing 

significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability 

that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where observable data indicate 

that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or 

economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 

asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit 

losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The 

carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 

related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement 

in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in 

profit or loss.

2.11 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary course of 

business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal 

operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented 

as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits 

held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months 

or less, and bank overdrafts (if any).

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.14 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary 

course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is 

due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are 

presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method.

2.15 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 

subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 

and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the 

effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 

settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

2.16 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 

of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready 

for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 

substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure 

on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, 

except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 

respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 

enacted at the end of each reporting period in the countries where the Group operates and generates 

taxable income. Management periodically evaluate positions taken in tax returns with respect to 

situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where 

appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 

statements. However, the deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if it arises from initial recognition of 

an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction 

affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates 

(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period and are 

expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred taxation liability 

is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will 

be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities 

relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different 

taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.18 Employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution plan and pays contributions to a privately administered 

pension insurance plan on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further 

payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as 

employee benefit expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset 

to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

2.18 Employee benefits – continued

(b) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the 

normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for 

these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: 

(a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity 

recognises costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment 

of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the 

termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees expected to accept the 

offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted 

to their present value.

(c) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision 

is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees 

up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(d) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses when the Group has a present legal 

or constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of 

such obligation can be made.

2.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 

past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the 

amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 

settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised 

even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations 

may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 

obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 

the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as 

interest expense.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

2.20 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only 

be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 

within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not 

recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic resource will be required or the amount 

of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will 

then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be 

confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly within 

the control of the Group.

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is 

recognised.

2.21 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivables for the sale of services in 

the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown after eliminating sales within the Group.

(a) Contracting and decoration income

Contract costs are recognised when incurred. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot 

be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred 

that are likely to be recoverable. When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated 

reliably and it is probable that the contract will be profitable, contract revenue is recognised over 

the period of the contract. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract 

revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included in contract revenue to the 

extent that they have been agreed with the customer and are capable of being reliably measured.

Revenue from contract work is recognised based on the percentage of completion of the 

contracts, provided that the percentage of contract completion and the gross billing value 

of contracting work can be measured reliably. The percentage of completion of a contract is 

established by reference to the construction works certified by the customer or to the proportion 

that contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract cost.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

2.21 Revenue recognition – continued

(b) Engineering consulting and project management service income

Revenue from provision of engineering consulting and project management services are 

recognised when the related services rendered to the customer.

(c) Seminar income

 Seminar income is recognised when services are rendered.

(d) Sales of publication of technical books

 Sales of publication of technical books are recognised on the transfer of risks and rewards of 

ownership.

(e) Financial public relation services income

 Financial public relation services income is recognised when services are rendered.

(f) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

(g) Rental income

Rental income from investment property is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 

the term of the lease.

2.22 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that 

the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

2.23 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 

classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received 

from the lessor) are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 

the period of the lease.

The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment. Leases of property, plant and equipment where 

the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 

Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased 

property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges. The corresponding rental 

obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-term payables. The interest element of 

the finance cost is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the lease period so as 

to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 

The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the 

useful life of the asset and the lease term.

2.24 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the 

Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are declared by the directors in 

case of interim dividends or approved by the Company’s shareholders in case of final dividends.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities exposed it to a variety of financial risks: interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity 

risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 

and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(i) Interest rate risk

Other than bank balances with variable interest rate, the Group has no other significant interest-

bearing assets. Management does not anticipate significant impact to interest-bearing assets 

resulted from the changes in interest rates, because the interest rates of bank balances are not 

expected to change significantly.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose 

the Group to cash flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates. The 

Group has not hedged its cash flow interest rate risks.

The Group had no variable-rate borrowings as at 31 July 2015 and 2016.

(ii) Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from trade and other receivables, amounts due from non-controlling 

interests and cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the 

event of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations as at the reporting dates in relation 

to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the 

consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of bank balances is limited because the counterparties are banks with sound credit 

ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all 

customers and counterparties. These evaluations focus on the counterparty’s financial position, 

past history of making payments and take into account information specific to the counterparty 

as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the counterparty operates. Monitoring 

procedures have been implemented to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue 

debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade and other 

receivable balance at the end of each reporting period to ensure adequate impairment losses are 

made for irrecoverable amounts.

As at 31 July 2016, there was 1 customer (2015: 1 customer) which individually contributed 

over 10% of the Group’s trade and other receivables. The aggregate amount of trade and other 

receivables from this customer amounted to 40% (2015: 50%) of the Group’s total trade and other 

receivables as at 31 July 2016.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – continued

3.1 Financial risk factors – continued

(iii) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and its 

compliance with debt covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and 

adequate committed lines of funding from banks and other financial institutions to meet their 

liquidity requirements in the short and long term. Management believes there is no significant 

liquidity risk as the Group has sufficient reserves of cash and cash equivalents to fund their 

operations.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the end of each reporting 

period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash 

flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates 

current at the end of each reporting period) and the earliest date the Group may be required to 

pay:

On demand Between Between

or within one and two and

one year two years five years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 July 2016

Trade and other payables 9,068 — — 9,068
    

As at 31 July 2015

Trade and other payables 14,797 159 — 14,956

Finance lease liabilities 174 — — 174
    

14,971 159 — 15,130
    

3.2 Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders, to support the Group’s 

stability and growth; to earn a margin commensurate with the level of business and market risks in the 

Group’s operation and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid 

to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as the total interest-

bearing liabilities divided by the total equity.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – continued

3.2 Capital management – continued

The gearing ratios at 31 July 2015 and 2016 were as follows:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Total borrowings (Note 21) — 171

Total equity 107,691 92,527
  

Gearing ratio N/A 0.2%
  

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the consolidated financial statements are continually evaluated 

and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 

seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing 

a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 

addressed below.

(a) Impairment of receivables

Management determines the provision for impairment of trade and other receivables. This estimate is 

based on the credit history of its customers and the current market condition. Management reassesses 

the provision at the end of the reporting period.

Significant judgement is exercised on the assessment of the collectability of receivables from each 

customer. In making the judgement, management considers a wide range of factors such as results 

of follow-up procedures, customer payment trends including subsequent payments and customers’ 

financial positions. If the financial conditions of the customers of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting 

in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.

(b) Percentage of completion of construction works

The Group recognises its contract revenue according to the percentage of work performed to date of the 

individual contract of construction works as a percentage of total contract value. Because of the nature 

of the activity undertaken in construction contracts, the date at which the contract activity is entered 

into and the date when the activity is completed usually fall into different accounting period. The Group 

reviews and revises the estimates of contract revenue, contract costs and variation orders prepared for 

each construction contract as the contract progresses. Management regularly reviews the progress of 

the contracts and the corresponding costs of the contract revenue.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue and other income and net gains recognised during the year are as follows:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue

Engineering consulting 29,339 37,771

Contracting 84,777 110,147

Project management 8,650 6,280

Others 2,033 305
  

124,799 154,503
  

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Other income and net gains

Gains on disposal of investment properties 2,356 —

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 29) 39 —

Government grants (Note) 140 101

Interest income 2 —

Net gains from fair value adjustment on investment properties (Note 15) — 1,100

Rental income 951 555

Others 238 3
  

3,726 1,759
  

Note:  There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the directors of 

the Company, the chief operating decision-maker, that are used to make strategic decisions. The directors 

consider the business from a product/service perspective. Principal activities of the segments are as follows:

Engineering consulting: Provision of developing cost-effective engineering designs and obtaining necessary 

approvals in respect of the engineering designs developed by the Group from the relevant Government 

authorities or their appointed consultants.

Contracting: Provision of undertaking foundation and related geotechnical works as a contractor.

Project management: Provision of overall planning, management, technical advice and supervision of site 

works.

Others: Organisation of continuing professional development courses, seminars and conferences, provision of 

related administration services, sales of technical books, provision of interior design and decoration services 

and provision of financial public relation services in Hong Kong.

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income.

The directors assess the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of segment results. 

Unallocated corporate expenses, finance costs, income tax expenses and other major items that are isolated 

and non-recurring in nature are not included in segment results.

Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and non-current assets as disclosed in the consolidated 

statement of financial position except unallocated property, plant and equipment, investment properties, 

amounts due from non-controlling interests and unallocated corporate assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-current liabilities as disclosed in the 

consolidated statement of financial position except unallocated corporate liabilities, current income tax 

liabilities and bank borrowings.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

Engineering 

consulting Contracting

Project 

management Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 July 2016

Revenue

Total revenue 29,339 84,777 8,650 2,737 125,503

Inter-segment revenue — — — (704) (704)
     

External revenue 29,339 84,777 8,650 2,033 124,799
     

Segment results 17,720 (140) 8,023 583 26,186
    

Gains on disposal of 

 investment properties 2,356

Rental income 951

Finance costs (3)

Unallocated

 corporate expenses (11,622)
 

Profit before income tax 17,868

Income tax expense (3,198)
 

Profit for the year 14,670
 

Included in segment

 results are:

Depreciation 1,239 307 31 133 1,710
     

At 31 July 2016

Segment assets 42,709 14,378 1,168 3,663 61,918

Unallocated assets 59,253
 

Total assets 121,171
 

Included in segment

 assets are:

Additions to

 non-current assets — — — — —
     

Segment liabilities 1,429 7,777 40 1,548 10,794

Tax payable 2,439

Unallocated liabilities 247
 

Total liabilities 13,480
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

Engineering

consulting Contracting

Project

management Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 July 2015

Revenue

Total revenue 37,771 110,147 6,280 920 155,118

Inter-segment revenue — — — (615) (615)
     

External revenue 37,771 110,147 6,280 305 154,503
     

Segment results 22,554 18,168 5,839 (532) 46,029
    

Net gains from fair value

 adjustment on

 investment properties 1,100

Rental income 555

Finance costs (53)

Unallocated corporate expenses (10,748)
 

Profit before income tax 36,883

Income tax expense (6,948)
 

Profit for the year 29,935
 

Included in segment results are:

Depreciation 133 85 5 — 223
     

At 31 July 2015

Segment assets 23,844 30,310 2,015 227 56,396

Unallocated assets 59,491
 

Total assets 115,887
 

Included in segment assets are:

Additions to non-current assets — — — — —
     

Segment liabilities 2,013 12,076 11 63 14,163

Tax payable 8,095

Unallocated liabilities 1,102
 

Total liabilities 23,360
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues and results are attributed to the segments 

based on the location of the customers, and assets are attributed to the segments based on the location of 

the assets. The Group’s major operations and markets are located in Hong Kong, no geographic segment 

information is provided.

 Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A1 and 2 18,662 84,134

Customer B1 and 2 72,145 29,302
  

1 Revenue from engineering consulting.

2 Revenue from contracting.
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6. EXPENSES BY NATURE

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of sales

 Consultancy 247 2,616

 Construction materials and supplies 36,364 —

 Depreciation of owned assets (Note 14) 113 133

 Depreciation of leased assets (Note 14) — 90

 Drafting — 180

 Motor vehicle expenses 310 338

 Operating lease charges 148 126

 Printing and stationery 75 176

 Secondment fees 225 495

 Staff costs (Note 7) 10,111 10,663

 Subcontracting charges 44,009 85,921

 Other expenses 833 197
  

92,435 100,935
  

Administrative and other operating expenses

 Auditors’ remuneration 800 810

 Building management fee 42 42

 Depreciation of owned assets (Note 14) 1,597 1,613

 Entertainment 881 825

 Insurance 583 481

 Legal and professional fees 1,777 1,424

 Listing expenses — 2,329

 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 —

 Operating lease rental on premises 1,732 1,337

 Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments (Note 7) 10,215 8,684

 Travelling 138 145

 Other expenses 452 701
  

18,219 18,391
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7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and allowances 19,788 18,818
Retirement benefit expenses
– defined contribution plan 538 529

  
20,326 19,347

  

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme in Hong Kong which complies with the requirements under 
the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Schemes Ordinance. All assets under the scheme are held separately 
from the Group under independently administered funds. Contributions to the MPF scheme follow the MPF 
Schemes Ordinance.

8. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The remuneration of each director and the chief executive for the year ended 31 July 2016 is set out 
below:

Salaries, Employer’s
allowances contribution to

and benefits Discretionary a retirement
Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 July 2016
Executive directors
Dr. Li — 2,118 — 18 2,136
Mr. Tam Yi Shek
 (Chief Executive Officer)
  (Note (ii)) — 1,242 — 18 1,260
Mr. Chan Kin Pong (Note (iii)) — 958 — 14 972
Mr. Tsang Siu Wah (Note (iv)) — 537 — 10 547
Ms. Au Man Yi (Note (v)) — 549 — 15 564
Ms. Tong Jiangxia (Note (vi)) — 377 — — 377
Mr. Chai Nan (Note vii) — 202 — 6 208
Independent non-executive directors
Professor Ho Ho Ming 158 — — — 158
Mr. Ko Chi Keung 158 — — — 158
Ms. Kwong Ka Ki (Note (x)) 76 — — — 76
Mr. Ong Chi King (Note (ix)) 125 — — — 125

     
517 5,983 — 81 6,581
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8. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS – continued

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments – continued

The remuneration of each director and the chief executive for the year ended 31 July 2015 is set out 
below:

Salaries, Employer’s
allowances contribution to

and benefits Discretionary a retirement
Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 July 2015
Executive directors
Dr. Li — 2,492 — 18 2,510
Mr. Tam Yi Shek
 (Chief Executive Officer)
 (Note i) — 1,210 — 18 1,228
Mr. Chan Kin Pong (Note i) — 1,120 — 18 1,138
Mr. Tsang Siu Wah (Note i) — 1,006 — 18 1,024
Ms. Au Man Yi (Note (v)) — — — — —

Independent non-
 executive directors
Professor Ho Ho Ming (Note (viii)) 100 — — — 100
Mr. Ko Chi Keung (Note (viii)) 100 — — — 100
Mr. Ong Chi King 
 (Note (viii)) 100 — — — 100

     
300 5,828 — 72 6,200

     

During the year ended 31 July 2016, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an 
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2015: Nil). Neither 
the chief executive nor any of the directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the 
year ended 31 July 2016 (2015: Nil).

Notes:

(i) Appointed on 16 September 2014.

(ii) Resigned on 31 July 2016.

(iii) Resigned on 14 May 2016.

(iv) Resigned on 14 February 2016.

(v) Appointed on 15 October 2015.

(vi) Appointed on 15 December 2015.

(vii) Appointed on 20 April 2016.

(viii) Appointed on 19 November 2014.

(ix) Resigned on 2 June 2016.

(x) Appointed on 15 March 2016.
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8. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS – continued

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were highest in the Group include four (2015: four) directors 

whose emoluments are disclosed above. Two of whom were resigned as directors during the year and 

remained as employees of the Group after their resignation. The emoluments paid to them as directors 

during the year amounted to approximately HK$1,519,000, details of whose emoluments are disclosed 

above. The emoluments payable to the remaining three (2015: one) individuals during the year are as 

follows:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,291 735

Discretionary bonuses 132 58

Contribution to pension scheme 26 18
  

1,449 811
  

The emoluments of each of the above non-directors and non-chief executive, highest paid individuals 

were below HK$1,000,000.

During the year ended 31 July 2016, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the above highest paid 

individuals as (i) an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or (ii) as compensation for loss of office 

as a director or management of any members of the Group (2015: Nil).

9. FINANCE COSTS

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on finance leases 3 13

Interest on bank borrowings — 40
  

3 53
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at a rate of 16.5% (2015: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit 

arising in or derived from Hong Kong for the year.

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong profits tax:

 - Current year 3,011 6,495

 - Adjustment in respect of prior years 187 453
  

Income tax expense 3,198 6,948
  

No deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements as the Group did not 

have material temporary differences arising between tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 

amounts as at 31 July 2016 (2015: Nil).

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using 

the Hong Kong profits tax rate as follows:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before income tax 17,868 36,883
  

Calculated at a tax rate of 16.5% 2,948 6,086

Income not taxable for tax purposes (419) (182)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 31 386

Temporary differences not recognised (2) 66

Adjustment in respect of prior years 187 453

Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised 453 139
  

Tax charge 3,198 6,948
  

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the 

related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income 

tax assets of approximately HK$592,000 (2015: HK$139,000) in respect of losses amounting to approximately 

HK$3,587,000 (2015: HK$842,000) that can be carried forward against future taxable income. Tax losses may 

be carried forward indefinitely. Certain amounts of unused tax losses are subject to approval from the Hong 

Kong Inland Revenue Department.
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

2016 2015

Profit attributable to owners of the Company (HK$’000) 14,722 29,935
  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of

 calculating basic earnings per share (in thousand) 411,200 393,456
  

Basic earnings per share (HK cents) 3.6 7.6
  

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company was based on (i) the 

profit attributable to owners of the Company and (ii) the weighted average number of ordinary shares issued 

during the year.

The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential 

ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 July 2016 (2015: Nil).

12. DIVIDENDS

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interim dividends paid — 22,590
  

The directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 July 2016 (2015: Nil). No 

dividend has been paid or declared by the Company since its incorporation.

The interim dividends of HK$22,590,000 paid for the year ended 31 July 2015 represented the dividends paid 

by subsidiaries of the Company to its then shareholder prior to the Reorganisation.

The rate of dividends and the number of shares ranking for dividends have not been presented as such 

information is not meaningful having regard to the purpose of these consolidated financial statements.
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13. SUBSIDIARIES

 The following is a list of the subsidiaries at 31 July 2016:

Place of

incorporation Particulars

and kind Principal activities of issued Percentage of

Name of legal entity and place of operation share capital interest held

KSL Enterprises BVI, limited liability Investment holding USD1 100% (direct)

 Limited  company  in Hong Kong

 (“KSL Enterprises”)

Focus Business BVI, limited liability Investment holding USD100 100% (direct)

 Consultants  company  in Hong Kong

 Investment Limited

Fortune Around BVI, limited liability Investment holding USD1 100% (direct)

 Limited  company  in Hong Kong

Upscale Century Limited BVI, limited liability Investment holding USD1 100% (direct)

 company  in Hong Kong

Victor Li & Associates Hong Kong, limited Provision of engineering HK$10,000 100% (indirect)

 Limited (“VLA”)  liability company  consulting services in

 Hong Kong

KSL Engineering Limited Hong Kong, limited Provision of contracting HK$10,000 100% (indirect)

 (“KSL Engineering”)  liability company  and project management

 services in Hong Kong

Centre For Research & Hong Kong, limited Organising continuing HK$200 100% (indirect)

 Professional Development  liability company  professional development

 Limited (“CRPD”)  courses, seminars,

 conferences and

 publication of

 technical books in 

 Hong Kong

Sky Planner Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding HK$1 100% (indirect)

 liability company  in Hong Kong

Focus Business Hong Kong, limited Provision of financial public HK$10,000 60% (indirect)

 Consultants Limited  liability company  relation services in

 Hong Kong

Holy Charm Limited Hong Kong, limited Provision of administrative HK$1 100% (indirect)

 liability company  and management services

 in Hong Kong

New Brio Engineering Limited Hong Kong, limited Provision of interior design HK$1,000,000 51% (indirect)

 liability company  and decoration services
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 
properties

Leasehold 

improvements

Furniture, 

fixtures 

and office 

equipment

Motor 

vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note a)

Cost

 At 1 August 2014 13,420 2,405 3,434 1,463 20,722

 Additions — 1,238 694 — 1,932

 Surplus on revaluation 4,360 — — — 4,360

 Transfer to investment 

  properties (Note 15) (17,780) — — — (17,780)
     

 At 31 July 2015 — 3,643 4,128 1,463 9,234
     

Accumulated depreciation

 At 1 August 2014 1,025 1,258 1,937 805 5,025

 Charge for the year (Note 6) 155 852 606 223 1,836

 Eliminated on transfer to 

  investment properties (Note 15) (1,180) — — — (1,180)
     

 At 31 July 2015 — 2,110 2,543 1,028 5,681
     

Net book value

 At 31 July 2015 — 1,533 1,585 435 3,553
     

Cost

 At 1 August 2015 — 3,643 4,128 1,463 9,234

 Additions — — 161 361 522

 Acquisition of a subsidiary — 751 418 — 1,169

 Disposals — (2,405) — (1,305) (3,710)

 Disposal of a subsidiary — — (50) — (50)
     

 At 31 July 2016 — 1,989 4,657 519 7,165
     

Accumulated depreciation

 At 1 August 2015 — 2,110 2,543 1,028 5,681

 Charge for the year (Note 6) — 966 611 133 1,710

 Acquisition of a subsidiary — 264 147 — 411

 Disposals — (2,219) — (990) (3,209)
     

 At 31 July 2016 — 1,121 3,301 171 4,593
     

Net book value

 At 31 July 2016 — 868 1,356 348 2,572
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – continued

Note:

(a) Motor vehicle includes the following amount where the Group was a lessee under finance leases:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost — capitalised finance leases — 450

Accumulated depreciation — (180)
  

Net book value — 270
  

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

At fair value

At 1 August 17,700 —

Transfer from owner-occupied properties (Note 14) — 16,600

Disposal (17,700) —

Net gains from fair value adjustment — 1,100
  

At 31 July — 17,700
  

Amounts recognised in profit and loss for investment properties:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental income 951 555

Direct operating expenses from properties that generated rental income (33) (14)
  

918 541
  

As at 31 July 2015, the Group had no unprovided contractual obligations for future repairs and maintenance.

As at 31 July 2015, the Group’s investment properties were situated in Hong Kong and were held on medium-

term lease.

During the year ended 31 July 2015, the Group’s leasehold properties with carrying amounts of approximately 

HK$12,240,000 were transferred to investment properties at fair value of HK$16,600,000 at the date of 

transfer due to the change of usage as evidenced by end of owner-occupation. The difference between the 

carrying amount and fair value which amounted to approximately HK$4,360,000 was recognised in other 

comprehensive income during the year ended 31 July 2015.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES – continued

An independent valuation of the Group’s investment properties was performed by the valuer, Asset Appraisal 

Limited, to determine the fair value of the investment properties at 31 July 2015. The revaluation gains or 

losses is included in “Other income and net gains” in consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 5). The 

following table analyses the investment properties carried at fair value, by valuation method.

Fair value measurements at 31 July 2015 using 

Quoted prices 

in active 

markets for 

identical assets 

(Level 1)

Significant 

other 

observable 

inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs 

(Level 3)

Description HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurements

Investment properties:

 – Factory building – Hong Kong — 17,700 —
   

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy level as of the date of 

the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

 Valuation techniques

For the factory building units, the valuation was determined using the comparison method. Comparison 

method is adopted based on price information of comparable properties has been made. Comparable 

properties of similar size, character and location have been analysed and carefully selected of each 

comparable properties in order to arrive at a fair comparison of capital values. The most significant input into 

this valuation approach is price per square feet.
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets as per consolidated statement of financial position

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments 13,246 22,424

Amounts due from non-controlling interests 494 —

Cash and cash equivalents 103,227 70,822
  

Total 116,967 93,246
  

Liabilities as per consolidated statement of financial position

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities 9,068 14,956

Finance lease liabilities — 171
  

Total 9,068 15,127
  

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 10,814 19,422

Retention receivables 1,380 2,546

Other receivables, deposit and prepayments 1,767 1,075
  

13,961 23,043
  

Notes:

(a) No credit period is granted to customers. Trade receivables are immediately due when the invoices are issued to 

customers. Trade receivables are denominated in HK$.
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES – continued

Notes: – continued

(b) The ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 3,498 16,480

31 – 60 days 1,300 1,067

61 – 90 days 230 260

91 – 365 days 5,074 1,115

Over 365 days 712 500
  

10,814 19,422
  

As at 31 July 2016, trade receivables of approximately HK$10,814,000 (2015: HK$19,422,000) were past due but 

not impaired. These relate to trade receivables from a number of independent customers of whom there is no recent 

history of default and no provision has therefore been made.

Retention receivables were not yet past due as at 31 July 2016 (2015: Nil) and would be settled in accordance with 

the terms of the respective contracts.

(c) The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. The Group does not hold any 

collateral as security.

18. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT WORK

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts due from customers for contract work

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses 917 24,085

Less: Progress billings — 23,316
  

917 769
  

Amounts due to customers for contract work

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses 694 21,245

Less: Progress billings 1,750 21,323
  

(1,056) (78)
  

19. AMOUNTS DUE FROM NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The amounts due were unsecured, non-interest bearing and had no fixed terms of repayment.
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at banks 102,980 70,696

Cash on hand 247 126
  

Cash and cash equivalents 103,227 70,822
  

Notes:

(a) All cash and cash equivalents are denominated in HK$.

(b) Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

21. BORROWINGS

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Finance lease liabilities (Note a) — 171
  

Note:

(a) Finance lease liabilities

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Gross finance lease liabilities - minimum lease payments

Within 1 year — 174

Future finance charges on finance leases — (3)
  

Present value of finance lease liabilities — 171
  

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year — 171
  

The Group’s motor vehicle with an aggregate net book value of approximately HK$270,000 as at 31 July 2015 (Note 

14) was secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessors in the event of default. The carrying amounts 

of all finance lease liabilities were denominated in HK$.

At 31 July 2015, finance lease liabilities bear interest at 1.7% per annum.
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current

Rental deposits received — 159
  

Current

Trade payables 4,459 10,393

Retention payables 2,309 2,143

Accruals and other payables 3,217 2,321
  

9,985 14,857
  

9,985 15,016
  

Notes:

(a) Payment terms granted by suppliers are generally 30 days from the invoice date of the relevant purchases.

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date is as follows:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 4,459 9,852

31 – 60 days — 192

61 – 90 days — 80

Over 90 days — 269
  

4,459 10,393
  

(b) All trade and other payables are denominated in HK$.
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23. SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM

Number of 

ordinary shares

Ordinary 

shares

HK$’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each:

Authorised:

On 17 July 2014 (date of incorporation), 31 July 2014 

 and 1 August 2014 (Note (a)) 38,000,000 380

Increase in authorised share capital (Note (b)) 1,962,000,000 19,620
  

As at 31 July 2015, 1 August 2015 and 31 July 2016 2,000,000,000 20,000
  

Number of 

ordinary shares

Ordinary 

shares

Share 

premium

HK$’000 HK$’000

Issued and fully paid:

On 17 July 2014 (date of incorporation), 31 July 2014 

 and 1 August 2014 (Note (a)) 1 — —

Issuance of shares upon Reorganisation (Note (c)) 51,399,999 514 —

Shares issued pursuant to the capitalisation issue 

 (Note (d)) 308,400,000 3,084 (3,084)

Shares issued pursuant to the placing (Note (e)) 51,400,000 514 27,478
   

As at 31 July 2015, 1 August 2015 and 31 July 2016 411,200,000 4,112 24,394
   

Notes:

(a) The Company was incorporated on 17 July 2014 in the Cayman Islands with an authorised share capital of 

HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each, of which one nil-paid share was allotted and issued to 

the subscriber to the memorandum and articles of association of the Company, which was later transferred to Sonic 

Solutions Limited (“Sonic Solutions”) on the same day.

(b) On 19 November 2014, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from HK$380,000 to 

HK$20,000,000 by the creation of an additional 1,962,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each.

(c) On 19 November 2014 pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of KSL 

Enterprises and as consideration 1 nil paid share held by Sonic Solutions was credited as fully paid and 51,399,999 

shares were allotted and issued to Sonic Solutions, all credited as fully paid.
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23. SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM – continued

Notes: – continued

(d) Pursuant to a shareholder resolution passed on 19 November 2014, HK$3,084,000 standing to the credit of the share 

premium account of the Company was capitalised and appropriated to pay up in full at par 308,400,000 shares for 

allotment and issue to shareholders appearing on the register of members of the Company at close of business of 19 

November 2014 (the “Capitalisation Issue”). Upon the Capitalisation Issue, the issued share capital of the Company 

would become HK$3,598,000 divided into 359,800,000 shares of HK$0.01 each.

(e) On 5 December 2014, the Company issued 51,400,000 shares pursuant to the Company’s listing on the GEM of the 

Stock Exchange by way of placing at a price of HK$0.60 per share.

24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 19 

November 2014 as to attract and retain the best available personnel and to provide additional incentive to the 

eligible participants under the Scheme.

Under the Scheme, the directors of the Company may at their absolute discretion and subject to the terms 

of the Scheme, grant options to any employees (full-time or part-time), directors, substantial shareholders, 

consultants or advisors, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or service 

provider of the Group, to subscribe for shares of the Company. The eligibility of any participants to the 

grant of any options shall be determined by the directors of the Company from time to time on the basis of 

participant’s contribution  or potential contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

Under the Scheme, the maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be granted under 

the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company as from the adoption date must not in 

aggregate exceed 10% of all the shares in issue upon the date on which the shares are listed and permitted 

to be dealt in the Stock Exchange. The 10% limit may be refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of 

the Company’s shareholders in general meeting provided that the total number of Company’s shares which 

may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other share options 

schemes of the Company must not exceed 10% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of approval 

of the refreshed limit. The aggregate number of the Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise 

of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other schemes of the 

Company must not exceed 30% of the Company’s shares in issue from time to time. No options may be 

granted under the Scheme or any other share options schemes of the Company if this will result in the limit 

being exceeded.
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24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME – continued

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each participant 

(including both exercised and outstanding options) under the Scheme or any other share option schemes of 

the Company in any 12-month period up to date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company 

in issue. Where any further grant of options to a participant under the Scheme would result in the shares 

issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such participant (including 

exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such 

further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the shares in issue, such further grant must be separately 

approved by shareholders of the Company in general meeting with such participant and his/her close 

associates abstaining from voting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their 

respective close associates must be approved by the independent non-executive directors of the Company 

(excluding any independent non-executive director who is the grantee). Where any share options granted to a 

substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or any of their respective 

close associates would result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all 

options already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) under 

the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company to such person in any 12-month period up 

to and including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the Company 

in issue and having an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved by the Company’s 

shareholders at the general meeting of the Company, with voting to be taken by way of poll.

The offer of a grant of share options might be accepted in writing within 7 days from the date of the offer. 

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period as the 

directors may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of 

early termination thereof. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option 

with a remittance in favour of the Company within such time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not 

be later than 7 days from the date of the offer).

The subscription price shall be a price solely determined by the board of directors of the Company and 

notified to a participant and shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares 

as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date; (ii) the average closing price of 

the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days 

immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share on the offer date.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on 19 November 2014, subject 

to early termination provisions contained in the Scheme.

No share options were granted since the adoption of the Scheme and there were no share option outstanding 

as at 31 July 2015 and 2016.



84Annual Report 2015/2016

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2016

25. OTHER RESERVES

Merger 

reserve

Revaluation 

reserve

Retained 

earnings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note)

Balance at 1 August 2014 — — 52,810 52,810
    

Profit for the year — — 29,935 29,935

Gain on revaluation of properties upon 

 transfer to investment properties — 4,360 — 4,360
    

Total comprehensive income 

 for the year — 4,360 29,935 34,295
    

Transactions with owners:

Dividend (Note 12) — — (22,590) (22,590)

Reorganisation (494) — — (494)
    

(494) — (22,590) (23,084)
    

Balance at 31 July 2015 (494) 4,360 60,155 64,021
    

Balance at 1 August 2015 (494) 4,360 60,155 64,021
    

Profit for the year — — 14,722 14,722
    

Total comprehensive income 

 for the year — — 14,722 14,722
    

Release upon disposal of investment 

 properties — (4,360) 4,360 —
    

Balance at 31 July 2016 (494) — 79,237 78,743
    

Note:  Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in 

exchange for the nominal value of the share capital of its subsidiaries arising from the Reorganisation.
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26. NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash generated from operations

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before income tax 17,868 36,883

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 1,710 1,836

Net gains from fair value adjustment on investment properties — (1,100)

Gains on disposal of investment properties (2,356) —

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 —

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (39) —

Interest income (2) —

Interest expense 3 53
  

Operating profit before working capital changes 17,186 37,672

Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables 9,460 (6,555)

Increase in amounts due from customers for contract work (148) (769)

Decrease in balance with a shareholder — 5,723

(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables (5,031) 12,131

Increase in amounts due to customers 

 for contract work 978 78
  

Net cash generated from operations 22,445 48,280
  

(b) Material non-cash transactions

 In September 2014, interim dividends of HK$22,590,000 were appropriated to the then shareholder 

of VLA, KSL Engineering and CRPD (which are now the indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the 

Company). All dividends declared had been fully paid in September 2014 and the Group financed the 

payment of such dividend by offsetting an equivalent amount due from Dr. Li.
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27. COMMITMENTS

(a) Operating lease commitments — Group as lessee

The Group is the lessee in respect of office premises and equipment under operating leases. The leases 

typically run for an initial period of 3 to 5 years, with an option to renew the leases when all terms are 

renegotiated.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

No later than one year 1,931 1,544

Later than one year and no later than five years 411 1,824
  

2,342 3,368
  

(b) Operating leases rental receivables — Group as lessor

The Group leases factory building units under an agreement which will be terminated in 2016. None of 

the leases includes contingent rentals.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are 

as follows:

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

No later than one year — 951

Later than one year and no later than five years — 396
  

— 1,347
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28.  ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

Holy Charm Limited

On 25 April 2016, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Holy Charm Limited at a consideration of 

HK$1,500,000.

The following table summarises the consideration paid for Holy Charm Limited, the assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed at the acquisition date.

HK$’000

Consideration:

At acquisition

Total consideration - Cash 1,500
 

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets 

 and liabilities assumed

Property, plant and equipment 758

Trade and other receivables 534

Cash and cash equivalents 208
 

Total identifiable net assets 1,500
 

Consideration 1,500

Less: Cash and cash equivalents of the subsidiary acquired (208)
 

Net consideration paid 1,292
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29. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 20 July 2016, the Group entered into sales and purchases agreements with Dong Tai Logistics Holdings 

Limited, pursuant to which the Group disposed 100% equity interest in Starry City Limited for a consideration 

of HK$245,000.

The gain on disposal of a subsidiary was as follow:

HK$’000

Consideration:

On disposal

Total consideration - Cash 245
 

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets and liabilities assumed

Property, plant and equipment 50

Trade and other receivables 156
 

Total identifiable net assets 206
 

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 39
 

Satisfied by:

Cash received as consideration 245
 

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Save as disclosed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have any 

significant related party transaction with related parties during the year.

(b) The emoluments of the directors and senior executives (representing the key management personnel) 

during the year are disclosed in Note 8.
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31.  STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 42,790 42,790
  

Current assets

Other receivables 301 285

Amounts due from subsidiaries 35,147 5,000

Cash and cash equivalents 1,912 34,316
  

37,360 39,601
  

Total assets 80,150 82,391
  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Share capital 4,112 4,112

Share premium 24,394 24,394

Reserve (Note b) 38,337 39,135
  

Total equity 66,843 67,641
  

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Other payables 187 1,102

Amounts due to subsidiaries 13,120 13,648
  

Total liabilities 13,307 14,750
  

Total equity and liabilities 80,150 82,391
  

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved and authorised for issue by the Board 

of Directors on 26 October 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Dr. Li Kai Shun Ms. Au Man Yi

Director Director
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31.  STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY – continued

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

Special Accumulated

reserve losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note)

On 17 July 2014 

 (date of incorporation),

 31 July 2014 and 1 August 2014 — — —

Reorganisation 42,276 — 42,276

Loss for the year — (3,141) (3,141)
   

At 31 July 2015 42,276 (3,141) 39,135
   

At 1 August 2015 42,276 (3,141) 39,135

Loss for the year — (798) (798)
   

At 31 July 2016 42,276 (3,939) 38,337
   

Note:  Special reserve represents the difference between the fair value of the shares of KSL Enterprises acquired 

pursuant to the Reorganisation on 19 November 2014 over the nominal value of the Company’s share issued in 

exchange therefore.
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last three financial years, as extracted 
from the audited financial statements in this annual report and the prospectus of the Company dated 28 November 
2014, is as follows.

2016 2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 124,799 154,503 63,413
Cost of sales (92,435) (100,935) (21,686)

   
Gross profit 32,364 53,568 41,727

Other income and net gains 3,726 1,759 155
Administrative and other operating expenses (18,219) (18,391) (11,805)

   
Operating profit 17,871 36,936 30,077
Finance costs (3) (53) (168)

   
Profit before income tax 17,868 36,883 29,909

Income tax expense (3,198) (6,948) (4,951)
   

Profit for the year 14,670 29,935 24,958
   

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified
 to profit or loss:
Gain on revaluation of properties upon transfer
 to investment properties — 4,360 —

   
Other comprehensive income for the year — 4,360 —

   
Total comprehensive income for the year 14,670 34,295 24,958

   
Profit attributable to:
 Owners of the Company 14,722 29,935 24,958
 Non-controlling interests (52) — —

   
Profit for the year 14,670 29,935 24,958

   
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
 Owners of the Company 14,722 34,295 24,958
 Non-controlling interests (52) — —

   
Total comprehensive income 14,670 34,295 24,958

   
Asset and liabilities

Total assets 121,171 115,887 68,222
Total liabilities (13,480) (23,360) (15,392)

   
Net assets 107,691 92,527 52,830

   
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 107,249 92,527 52,830

   
Non-controlling interests 442 — —
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